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This civil penalty proceeding arises under section 105(a)
of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977 (M ne Act).
The Secretary of Labor (Secretary), on behalf of his Mne
Safety and Health Adm nistration (MSHA), petitions for the
assessnent of a civil penalty for a violation of mandatory
safety standard 30 CF.R " 75.220. The standard requires the
operator of an underground coal mne to adopt and to conply
with a roof control plan approved by MSHA. The Secretary
all eges that on July 11, 1990, Daniel Lee Coal Conpany (Daniel
Lee) violated the standard at its No 2 M ne, an underground
coal mne located in Letcher County, Kentucky, when it changed
the type of roof bolts used at its mne without first notifying
VBHA.

PROCEDURAL HI STORY

The Secretary's petition for assessnment of civil penalty
was received in the Comm ssion's Docket Ofice on April 1, 1991.
On Septenber 3, 1991, Harold D. Bolling, the conpany's chief
executive officer, filed an entry of appearance on behal f of
the conpany. Three days later Bolling filed a response to the
Secretary's petition. In the response he denied generally the
Secretary's all egations.



On Cctober 17, 1991, the case was erroneously stayed pendi ng
the resolution of a case that was then before the Comm ssion for
decision. The error was not discovered until after the instant
matter had been dism ssed. The Secretary therefore noved to
reinstate his petition. On Novenber 16, 1993, the Conm ssion
granted the notion, reopened the case and remanded the matter
to the Chief Judge. On Novenber 17, 1993, the Chief Judge
ordered the parties to confer and to advise himon or before
Decenber 22, 1993, of the results of the conference. The Chief
Judge noted that failure to conply could result in a default.

Approxi mately one nonth | ater, counsel for the Secretary
filed with the Conm ssion a copy of a cover letter that was
attached to a joint settlenent notion. The letter indicated
the parties had agreed to settle the case. However, nothing
further was heard fromthe parties and on Septenber 2, 1994,
the Chief Judge ordered the Secretary to show cause why the
matter should not be dism ssed for failure to prosecute.

On Septenber 15, 1994, counsel responded that she had nmade
numerous attenpts to get Harold Bolling to return the settl enent
motion for filing and that, "[t]he failure to forward a witten
settlenment in this matter is due to the dilatory action of the
[ Rl espondent” (Secretary's Response to Order to Show Cause 2).
On Septenber 21, 1994, the Chief Judge found the response to be
adequat e and assigned the case to ne.

The matter was scheduled to be heard on Cctober 13, 1994,

in Pikeville, Kentucky. The conpany's copy of the notice of
hearing was mailed to Bolling at his business address. The
return receipt indicates that it was received on Septenber 26
1994. The receipt is signed by Betsy Addington, Bolling s agent.
On Cctober 5, 1994, the conpany's copy of the notice of hearing
site was sent by facsimle copy, as well as by registered nail
to Bolling at the sanme address. The return receipt indicates
the "hard copy" was received by Bolling on Cctober 11, 1994.
Agai n, Betsy Addi ngton signed for Bolling.

At 8:30 a.m, on COctober 13, 1994, the matter was call ed
for hearing in Pikeville. Counsel for the Secretary entered
her appearance. Harold Bolling did not. At ny request,
counsel for the Secretary described her attenpts to contact
Bol ling. Counsel explained that on Septenber 28, 1994, she
had called his office. Counsel was told that Bolling was
"in court,"” but that he would return counsel's tel ephone cal
that day. He did not.

Counsel stated that she called again on Septenber 29 and
was told that Bolling was "in court.” She also was told to
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tel ephone Bolling after 4:00 p.m She did, and there was no
answer (Tr. 11-12).

Counsel explained that on Septenber 30 she spoke with
Bolling's secretary on two occasions. According to counsel,
the secretary was concerned because she had spoken with ny
of fice and understood there was to be a conference call. (I
had tried to arrange such a call anong counsel, Bolling and
me that day.) The secretary told counsel that Bolling was
out of the office and that she expected he would call counsel
or ne. He did not (Tr. 12-13).

| recessed the hearing for one half hour and asked counsel
to contact Bolling by tel ephone to determne his intentions.

In the neantine, | placed a tel ephone call to ny office to
determine if Bolling had attenpted to reach me there. Wen the
hearing resuned, | reported that Bolling had not attenpted to

contact nme and counsel reported that Bolling's secretary told

her that Bolling was not in the office and that there was nothing
on his calendar to indicate he intended to attend the heari ng.
Counsel stated she nmade two additional calls during the recess
and was told that Bolling had not arrived at the office and that
no one had any know edge of his intentions or his whereabouts
(Tr. 14-16).

| expressed consternation at Bolling's failure to appear
or to otherwi se contact nme or counsel, and the hearing proceeded
as scheduled (Tr. 17-18).

ORDER NO. DATE 30 CF.R * PROPOSED PENALTY

3160289 7/ 11/ 90 75. 220 $400

THE SECRETARY' S W TNESSES AND EVI DENCE

NANCY EDMONDS

Nancy Ednonds is a coal mne inspection supervisor for
MSHA, She is also the custodian of records at the agency's
Pai ntsville, Kentucky, Subdistrict Ofice. In her capacity
as records custodian, she identified the roof control plan in
effect at Daniel Lee's No. 2 Mne on July 3, 1990 and Order
No. 3160289, an order issued to Daniel Lee on July 11, 1990,
and signed by MSHA | nspector Norman Page (Gov. Exh. Nos. 1 and
2; Tr. 22-23).

AFFI DAVI T OF NORVAL PAGE




Counsel explained that Page was unable to appear as a
W tness due to a nedical energency involving his son. Counsel
therefore presented Page's affidavit. |In the affidavit, Page
stated that on July 11, 1990, when inspecting the 001 working
section of the No. 2 Mne, he determ ned the conpany had changed
the roof bolts from48 inch resin-grouted bolts to 36 inch
mechani cal bolts. The 36 inch bolts had been used for a distance
of approximately 150 feet in the Nos. 1 though 3 entries and



in the connecting crosscuts. The approved roof control plan
sanctioned only the use of 48 inch resin-grouted bolts in this
ar ea.

The roof had surface cracks and water was seeping through
it. The condition of the roof indicated to Page that the roof
m ght be unstable. Because of the condition of the roof, Page
bel i eved that changing the type of roof support w thout first
obt ai ning MSHA' s approval was reasonably likely to result in
a serious accident (Gov. Exh. No. 3).

In addition, because the difference between the two types
of roof bolts was visually obvious, Page believed m ne nanagenent
woul d have known that the 36 inch roof bolts were being used
(Gov. Exh. No. 3).

BUSTER STEWART

Buster Stewart is an MSHA roof control specialist. As such,
it is his job to evaluate roofs and to determ ne what shoul d be
i ncl uded i n MSHA- approved m ne roof control plans (Tr. 27).
Stewart confirnmed that under the plan approved for No. 2 M ne,
48 inch resin-grouted roof bolts were to be used to support the
roof in the subject area (Tr. 29). Stewart explained that when
a resin-grouted roof bolt was inserted in the roof, the resin or
gl ue was rel eased and spread into the cracks in the roof strata.

The glue helped to hold the roof in place. When resin-grouted
bolts were used in sequence, they were |ike having "five or

six 2 by 4s ... glued ... all together ... fornfing] a beam
across" (Tr. 31). Stewart described a resin-grouted bolt as

"t he best roof support™ (Tr. 33).

A nmechani cal roof bolt uses a chuck to secure the roof.
(The bolt functions in a manner simlar to a toggle bolt.)
In Stewart's opinion, the problemw th nechanical bolts was
that if they were not anchored in firmroof, they would pul
out (Tr. 34-35). The mne has a shale roof, and Stewart
believed that with such a roof it was difficult to find firm
material in which to anchor nmechanical roof bolts (Tr. 51-52).

Stewart testified he had read Page's affidavit. Stewart
stated that when Page described water com ng through the roof
it meant to Stewart that there were interior cracks in the roof
(Tr. 38). Resin-grouted bolts could seal the cracks (Tr. 38-39).
Wth mechanical bolts a roof fall was possible (Tr. 39-40).

When an operator wants to change the type of roof bolts,
MSHA wi || first conduct a stratus scope test to determ ne the
roof's consistency. |In addition, MSHA w || conduct a "pul
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test" to determ ne the hol ding power of the proposed bolts
(Tr. 40-41).



Because the equi pnent used to install mechanical roof
bolts is different fromthat used to install resin-grouted
bolts, Stewart believed a m ne foreman woul d have known which
kind of bolt was being used (Tr.42). |In addition, because the
section foreman nakes sure the roof bolting machi ne operator
is supplied with roof bolts and with glue, the section foreman
al so woul d have been aware of the type of roof bolts used
(Tr. 43, 46-47). Finally, Stewart believed that it would have
taken at |least three shifts to roof bolt the area cited in the
order (Tr. 49).

THE VI OLATI ON

Section 75.220 requires each mne operator to devel op and
follow a roof control plan approved by MSHA. Here, the roof
control plan for No. 2 Mne in effect on July 11, 1990, provided
for the use in different areas of 36 inch conventional roof bolts
and 48 inch resin-grouted bolts (Gov. Exh. No. 1 at 4-5). The
pl an al so stated, "MSHA shall be notified and an investigation
made and approval granted before resin bolting can be di scon-
tinued" (l1d. at 5). It is the Secretary's contention, as stated
in the order, that 48 inch resin-grouted roof bolts were required
inthe cited area. The evidence supports this assertion and |
accept it. It is also the Secretary's contention that 36 inch
mechani cal roof bolts were used w thout MSHA being notified and
w thout an investigation being made. The evidence |ikew se
supports this assertion and | except it. | conclude, therefore,
that Daniel Lee was in fact operating in contravention of its
approved roof control plan and that the violation of section
75. 220 exi sted as char ged.

SI GNI FI CANT AND SUBSTANTI AL

The violation was cited in an order of w thdrawal issued
pursuant to section 104(d)(1) of the Act, 30 U S.C " 814(d)(1).
One of the inspector's findings in issuing the order was that
the violation constituted a significant and substantial (S&S)
contribution to a mne safety hazard. A four-part test for
determ ning whether a violation is S&S was enunci ated by the
Comm ssion in Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984).
It is well known and need not be repeated here.

| have concl uded that the violation of section 75.220(a)
exi sted as charged. Mreover, the evidence easily establishes a
di screte safety hazard. As Stewart persuasively explained, the
failure to use 48 inch resin-grouted roof bolts subjected m ners
on the 001 section to the hazard of injury fromfalling roof.
Mor eover, given the | am nated shale roof and the water seeping



through it, | accept Stewart's opinion that the nechanical roof
bolts m ght not hold and that roof falls were reasonably I|ikely.



Such falls are the nbst common cause of death in the nation's
m nes, and | conclude therefore that the violation properly was
desi gnat ed S&S.

GRAVI TY

The concept of gravity involves analysis of both the
potential hazard to mners and the probability of the hazard
occurring. The potential hazard was one of death or serious
injury caused by falling roof. The probability was high due
to the makeup of the roof and the fact that the roof was
| eaking water. This was a very serious violation, and the
fact that Daniel Lee took it upon itself effectively to alter
its plan without consulting MSHA augnents the violation's
gravity.

UNWARRANTABLE FAI LURE AND NEG.I GENCE

In issuing the order, the inspector found that the
viol ati on was caused by the unwarrantable failure of
Dani el Lee to conply. To establish that a violation
resulted froman operator's unwarrantable failure, it mnust
be proven that the operator engaged in aggravated conduct
that was nore than ordinary negligence (Enery M ning Corp.
9 FMSRHC 1997, 2203-2204 (Decenber 1987)).

| conclude that Daniel Lee's failure to conply with its
plan resulted fromnore than a failure to exercise the care
required by the circunstances. Stewart detail ed the obvious
di fferences between resin-grouted and nechani cal roof bolts.
Steward further described the differences in the equi pnent
used to install the bolts. An operator is presuned to know
the requirenments of the its roof control plan, which neans
that Daniel Lee is presuned to have known which type of roof
bolts were required at the various areas of No. 2 M ne.

Because the differences in the types of roof bolts
and in the equi pnent used to install them were obvious, | can
only conclude that the m ne foreman and/ or section forenman
deliberately chose to install the conventional bolts despite
the fact they were prohibited, or that the forenen were totally
oblivious to what was happeni ng on the 001 section and thus
were highly negligent. In either event, they unwarrantably
failed to conply with the standard by exhibiting nore than
ordi nary negl i gence.

H STORY OF PREVI QUS VI OLATI ONS

In the 24 nonths prior to July 11, 1991, Daniel Lee was
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cited for 137 violations. For a mne the size of the No. 2 M ne,
this is a large nunber of prior violations (Gov. Exh 4). 1In
addition, at ny request, counsel supplenented the record with

i nformation regardi ng the conpliance history of Harold Bolling
and Daniel Lee. Counsel advised nme that MSHA regards Bolling
as the controlling entity of five mnes: Mriah Branch Coal
Conpany, No. 1 Surface Mne; Daniel Lee, Mne No. 1; Daniel Lee,
M ne No. 2; Daniel Lee, Mne No. 3 and Daniel Lee, Surface M ne
No. 1. Counsel also stated that the |ast paynent of a civil
penalty was received fromBolling on May 23, 1991. Further, as
of Cctober 24, 1994, MSHA closed its files on $24,323.26 in
uncol | ected penalties fromthese entities(see Letter of

Cctober 31, 1994 and attachnents) (When asked whether the
Secretary had brought a collection action against Daniel Lee
(and Bolling), counsel replied, "Not to our know edge ... .
Unfortunately, he doesn't owe us as nuch as sonme ot her people"
(Tr. 56). Because the Secretary has witten off the uncollected
civil penalties, the amount currently due the Secretary from
Daniel Lee is $1,684.28. 1d. Nevertheless, and as expl ai ned
bel ow, the uncollected penalties are a nost significant
assessment consi derati on.

SI ZE OF BUSI NESS

Counsel stated the No. 2 M ne, enployed approxi mately
ni ne persons who worked one shift (Tr. 59; Letter of Cctober 31,
1994). In addition, it is clear fromthe supplenental infor-
mati on supplied by counsel that Bolling and Dani el Lee operated
other mnes and that Bolling controlled or controls another
m ni ng conpany.

ABI LI TY TO CONTI NUE | N BUSI NESS

The effect of assessed penalties on the ability of an
operator to continue in business is a matter to be proven by
the operator. Here, of course, there was no such proof.

When asked whet her the conpany was still in business,
counsel replied, "Not to ny know edge" (Tr. 57). |If in fact
Dani el Lee has ceased operation, inposition of a civil penalty
for a past violation may still be appropriate. Cessation of
m ni ng does not nean a conpany intends to forego operations at
sone future tine, either at the sane |ocation or at sone ot her
| ocation, using the same or another nane (See Steele Branch
M ni ng, 15 FMSHRC 1667, 1701 (August 1993) (ALJ Koutras)).
Therefore, | conclude any penalty assessed wll not affect
Daniel Lee's ability to continue in business.

GOCD FAI TH ABATEMENT
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The violation was abated the follow ng day. This
constituted good faith abatenent.
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Cl VIL PENALTY ASSESSMENT

The Secretary has proposed a penalty of $400. G ven
the seriousness of the violation and the nore than ordinary
negl i gence of m ne managenent, as well as the other civil
penalty criteria, this proposal would have been appropriate
had there not been another very inportant factor to consider.
This factor -- the operator's conpliance record -- mandates
the penalty assessed be substantially nore than that proposed.

The Act nmandates a civil penalty be assessed for each
violation. The statutory enforcenent schene is prem sed upon
t he assunption that conpliance is encouraged and viol ati ons
deterred by the paynent of penalties. Paynent is the culm -
nation of the citation and assessnent process. Thus,
consi deration of an operator's history of previous violations
shoul d include the operator's history of paynment. As | have
not ed previously, when an operator has a poor paynent history
for which the record provides no explanation, |I can only assune
it is the result of contenpt for the Act and for the Conm ssion,
a contenpt that is here mrrored by Bolling's totally unexpl ai ned
failure to appear. Bob & Tom Coal Conpany, Inc., 16 FMSRHC 1974,
1990 (Septenber 1994); see al so May Resources | ncor porat ed,
16 FMSHRC 170 (January 1994) (ALJ Fauver)).

Because of Daniel Lee's and Bolling's abysmal history in
this regard, | will greatly increase the penalty fromthe anount
| m ght otherw se have inposed and assess a civil penalty of
$9, 000 for the violation of section 75.200.

Finally, this is the first case in which Bolling was to
have appeared before nme, as well as the last in which simlar

behavior on his part will not trigger a disciplinary referral
to the Comm ssion (29 C.F.R " 2700. 80).

David F. Barbour
Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di stribution:

Mary Sue Taylor, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,

U S. Departnent of Labor, 2002 Richard Jones Road,
Suite B-201, Nashville, TN 37215-2862 (Certified Mail)

Harold B. Bolling, Representative, Daniel Lee Coal
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Conpany, Inc., 135 West Main Street, Witesburg, KY 41858
(Certified Mil)
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